Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-18-2013

City of Meridian v. Petra Inc. Augmented Appellant's Brief 1 Dckt. 39006

INTRODUCTION

During the Oral Argument of this pending matter, the Justices of the Supreme Court, sua sponte, raised the issue of illegality of contract in relationship to the procurement of payment and performance bonds for the Meridian City Hall ("MCH") Project. The issue of whether a Licensed Construction Manager's failure to obtain the payment and performance bonds renders such contract illegal has no reported precedent.

As a backdrop to analyzing this matter of first impression, the inception of the MCH Project is important. The City, its Mayor, City Council, and City staff neither were, nor are,

-1-

in the business of managing the construction of major governmental buildings like the MCH.

Thus, the Mayor and City Council endeavored to do the right thing: The City put out a Request for Proposals seeking Licensed, professional, Construction Management services.¹ Petra responded, touting its professional expertise and that of Gene Bennett who purportedly was a professional Engineer in addition to holding an Idaho license as a construction manager.²

In addition, the City hired outside counsel seeking to obtain the necessary expertise in the creation of appropriate contract documents to establish the terms and conditions of this relationship within the parameters of the specialized construction management statutes and regulations.³ The City, by way of Frank Lee, and Petra, by way of Pat Kershisnik, actively negotiated the terms of the CMA.⁴ The City entered the contract with clean hands; in reliance on experts in the field of construction management and construction law, and it executed the contract in good faith.

SEVERANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE BENIGN PORTIONS OF THE CONTRACT IS AN APPROPRIATE REMEDY

Under the unusual circumstances of this case, severance and enforcement of the benign, or legal portions of the contract is the appropriate remedy. In *Farrell v. Whiteman*, 146 Idaho 604, 200 P. 3d 1153 (2009), Justice Jim Jones writing for a unanimous Court stated:

Where a transaction is composed of both benign and offensive components and the different portions are severable, the unobjectionable parts are generally enforceable." Nelson v. Armstrong, 99 Idaho 422, 426, 582 P.2d 1100, 1104 (1978).

¹ See, Ex. 501.

² See, Ex. 2001, p. 5.

³ Tr. pp. 31-35.

⁴ *Id*.

Similarly, Bankruptcy Judge James D. Pappas wrote in *In Re: Old Cutters, Inc.*, Idaho BR 11-41261-KDP, 2012 WL 6743815 (Bankr. D. Idaho December 31, 2012):

(e)ven absent a severability provision, whenever possible courts will enforce the valid parts of the valid parts of partially unlawful contracts." (citing Zaicek. v. KoolVent Metal Awning Corp., 283 F.2d 127, 133 (9th Cir. 1960)).

Here, the Construction Management Agreement ("CMA") contains a severability clause at Section 10.18.5

10.18 Severability:

If any term or provision of this agreement shall, to any extent be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this agreement shall not be affected thereby, and each term and provision of this agreement shall be valid and be enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law; and it is the intention of the parties hereto that if any provision of this agreement is capable of two constructions, one of which would render the provision void and the other of which would render the provision valid, the provision shall have the meaning which renders it valid.

The doctrine of severability has likewise been followed in other Idaho decisions. See, Nelson v. Armstrong, 99 Idaho 422, 426, 582 P. 2d 100, 1004(1978) involving severance of a sales agreement; See, Ingle v. Perkins, 95 Idaho 416, 510 P.2d 480(1973) involving severance of a pasturing agreement; See Vaughn v. Vaughn, 91 Idaho 544, 428 P. 2d 50(1967) involving severance of a divorce settlement agreement; See also Hill v. Schultz, 71 Idaho 145, 227 P.2d 586(1951) involving severance of a lending agreement and citing Durant v. Snyder, 65 Idaho 678, 151 P. 2d 776 for a detailed discussion of authority as to when a contract is severable and the right of a party to prevail if there is no necessity for reliance upon illegal provisions therein.

As in *Durant, supra*, whether a contract containing an illegal provision is severable, so as to authorize the enforcement of the legal portions thereof, must be determined from the

⁵ See, Ex. 2003, § 10.18.

subject matter of the agreement, and the language used therein controls. Here, the nature of the agreement was the management of the work of others (the Prime Contractors) toward the construction of a new MCH. Again, the City sought to do the right thing in engaging the services of outside professionals with the purported expertise to achieve the stated goal of constructing a new City Hall.⁶

It is also important to note, that all of the Prime Contracts for the actual physical construction of the City Hall were performed with the required performance and payment bonds required and obtained. Thus protecting the taxpaying public interest in the physical construction of the MCH.⁷

Thus the City respectfully requests that the Court sever Section 10.3, and enforce the balance of the CMA provisions, including Section 7 and Section 8 therein.

FAILURE TO ENFORCE THE BENIGN PORTIONS OF THE CONTRACT MAY LEAD TO PERVERSE RESULTS CONTRARY TO PUBLIC POLICY

In the event that the Supreme Court engages in an analysis of the issues of illegality, it might begin with the statement of the law by the Supreme Court in Farrell v. Whiteman, 146 Idaho 604 (2008):

Idaho has long disallowed judicial aid to either party to an illegal contract. In most cases, the court will leave the parties to an illegal contract as it finds them.

(Internal citations omitted.)

This Court has held that in some circumstances a party to an illegal contract may obtain some relief due to public policy considerations. *Barry v. Pac. W. Constr.*, *Inc.*, 140 Idaho 827, 832-833, 103 P.3d 440, 445-446 (2004). However, in *Farrell*, the Supreme Court

-4-

⁶ See, Ex. 2003, Section 3.1 p. 9: "Owner's objective for the Project is to develop a new cost efficient city hall facility and public plaza on the Site."

⁷ See, Ex. 2017, Sections 7.3.6.4, 9.10.3, 11.3.9 and 11.4.

engaged in an analysis which sought to balance the public policy interests to be served in that specific fact situation, and went on to state:

This Court has recognized situations in which relief to a party to an illegal contract is warranted to avoid unduly harsh results. In such instances, the Court has awarded damages based on the rationale that, although illegal contracts are unenforceable as a matter of public policy, circumstances arise where denying a party relief would frustrate the public interest more than "leaving the parties where they lie." This Court has stated that, "[b]arring the strict application of the illegality doctrine, the central focus must be whether the ends of the law will be furthered or defeated by granting the relief requested.

Farrell, at 612. (Internal citations omitted.)

The Farrell Court, applying this balancing test, found that the public interest is not necessarily best served by the invalidation of a contract based on a failure to require credentials otherwise required by law:

The noncompliance with the statute may be nearly harmless. The real defrauder may be the defendant who will be enriched at the unlicensed party's expense by a court's refusal to enforce the contract.... Justice requires that the penalty should fit the crime. Justice and sound policy do not always require the enforcement of licensing statutes by large forfeitures going not to the state but to repudiating defendants. 15 CORBIN ON CONTRACTS § 88.3 (2003).

To refuse to award Farrell *some* damages would create a perverse incentive for developers to hire unlicensed architects in order to get buildings designed at no cost.

Farrell, at 612. (Emphasis added).

Likewise in the specific facts of the case at bar, the invalidation of the entire contract on the basis of the parties' failure to obtain bonds otherwise required by law would effect very perverse and unintended results which would not be in the public policy interests of Idaho.

Regardless of the terms of any contract, Petra as the licensed Construction Manager held an unqualified, express, legal duty to provide the performance and payment bonds under I.C. §54-4512. It's contractual duties aside, Petra was retained by the City because of its represented superior knowledge.⁸

If the contract is declared illegal, with the mutual loss of contractual enforcement rights as between these parties, then one of the questions is the public policy precedent to be set.

First, it is clear from the record in this case that Gene Bennett, as Petra's Idaho licensed construction manager, failed to advise the City that bonds were required. It is notable that between the date of Mr. Bennett's pre-trial deposition and the date of his trial testimony, Mr. Bennett claimed that he advised the City of the need for the bonds. The record further reveals that Petra's expert witness on Idaho construction management Richard Bauer, was completely unaware of the CM's duty to obtain the bonds. If these licensed professionals are unaware of the express statutory duties, to impose a penalty on the City and its taxpayers truly seems a perverse result.

Moreover, Petra and Bennett could have simply obtained the bonds and charged the City according to the CMA. In addition, Petra could have simply refused to perform their work until the bonds were obtained. Petra and Bennett did neither.

A further perversity is that Petra was paid over \$330,000 in personnel compensation, and an additional \$574,000 in CM Fee/profit for its work on this project. In addition Petra sought an additional \$376,808 as a CM Fee (a percentage of the total cost of work

⁹ See, R. 005248, Tr. p. 64, L. 4 - p. 66, L. 1

⁸ See, Ex. 2001, p. 5.

¹⁰ See, Tr. p. 6255, L. 14 – p. 6257 L. 3.

¹¹ Bauer is an employee of Lemley International, Inc., the Construction Management firm performing the CM work on the rebuilding of the Idaho State Capital Building.

¹² This group includes the City's outside counsel relied upon by the City to prepare the contract.

performed by others)¹³ as additional compensation work Project. If the work performed were found to be the fruit of an illegal contract, equity would require that the CM Fee realized by Petra be tainted with illegality as well.

Moreover, Petra would retain a windfall in *overcharges* as a result of its failure to comply with its statutory obligation to obtain the required bonds.

Additionally if, as in *Farrell*, Petra would be allowed *an additional* windfall of proceeding on a claim of unjust enrichment for services provided under an illegal contract. If allowed to proceed before the original District Court on that claim, Petra would almost surely receive another \$376,808 again, as a result of its failure to obtain the required bonds.

If 'the central focus must be whether the ends of the law will be furthered or defeated by' declaring the contract illegal, then a *windfall* of this proportion to the party charged by law with the statutory duty to obtain the bonds, all at taxpayer expense, seems wholly inconsistent with the underlying premise that I.C. § 54-4512 which is intended to protect those same taxpayers.

Such a perverse result would encourage unscrupulous construction managers and general contractors to *fail* to obtain bonds; perform the illegal work; seek extra compensation for claimed additional services; overcharge the public; and then, when subjected to suit for claims under the contract, seek to have the contract declared illegal to deny the public enforcement of the public's claims while having retained the bounty of their own malfeasance. Such a perverse result cannot possibly serve public policy, or the ends of justice.

¹³ Petra's total cost claim was based upon a percentage of the cost of the work performed by the Prime Contractors on the MCH Project, not upon any accounting for the claimed *additional services* performed by Petra.

If the question is one of public policy, and a balancing of the respective fault is undertaken, the substance and purpose of the Public Works Construction Management Licensing Act provides guidance:

54-4502. LEGISLATIVE INTENT. In order to protect the public welfare and to promote the highest degree of professional conduct on the part of persons providing construction management services, the provisions of this chapter provide for the licensure of individuals and regulation of persons providing construction management services for public works projects.

I.C. §54-5402. (Emphasis added).

The statute's intent to "protect the public welfare" and to regulate the "persons providing construction management services for public works projects" is indicative that the duty of provision of the bond falls directly on the Construction Manager. The penalty of I.C. § 54-4513 is directed at the CM, as are the disciplinary proceedings of I.C. § 54-4508. As noted during Oral Argument, there is no excuse for the failure of the exercise of the statutory duties of Petra, and Mr. Bennett as the person actually holding the CM license. ¹⁴

As such, and under the rationale of *Barry v. Pac. W. Const. Inc.*, 140 Idaho 827, 103 P. 3d 440(2002), the City and Petra were not truly *in pari delicto* as the statutory duty of compliance was held by Petra and Mr. Bennett as the licensee.

Further, the public policy of promoting "the highest degree of professional conduct on the part of persons performing construction management services" may only be best served in the following fashion:

- 1. Severing that portion of the City's breach of contract claim as it relates to the procurement of the bonds;
- 2. On the grounds that Petra and Bennett failed in the performance of their express statutory duty, requiring Petra to disgorge the CM Fee it received under the illegal

¹⁴ See, Ex. 2001, p. 5.

contract (\$574,000).

- 3. Requiring that Petra disgorge overcharges, rather than realize a windfall as the result of a finding of illegality.
- 4. Dismissal of any "claim" retained by Petra under tort/equitable principles, due to failure to provide notice pursuant to I.C. §\$50-219 and 6-906..

CONCLUSION

If public policy, and the public interests are to be served, the City respectfully requests the Supreme Court consider the foregoing in its deliberations on this matter.