Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-29-2012

City of Meridian v. Petra Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39006

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

²⁷⁸ Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5609:6-5623: 1; Exhibits 754, 756, 757.

²⁷⁹ Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5612:1-5612:20; Exhibit 757.

²⁸⁰ Testimony of Eric Jensen, at 4465:20-4466:1.

²⁸¹ Testimony of Eric Jensen, at 4465:20-4466:1.

²⁸² Testimony of Lenny Buss, at 8658:7-23.

²⁸³ Testimony of Lenny Buss, at 8658:13-23.

²⁸⁴ Testimony of Jon Anderson, at 7493:6-10.

²⁸⁵ Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5609:6-5623:1; Exhibits 754, 756, 757.

²⁸⁶ Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5612:1-5612:20; Exhibit 757.

²⁸⁷ Testimony of Rob Drinkard, at 7940:3-9.

iv. Waterproofing, Basement Electrical Pad, Mayor's Reception Area.

Weltner testified regarding a water main leak and an issue with the basement equipment pad. Weltner did not provide testimony when the alleged leak was first discovered. If the leak was discovered during the warranty period, then correcting the leak would be a matter of the City properly administering the warranty, an obligation that rested with the City. Weltner appeared to attribute the leak to an alleged lack of water proofing on the foundation up to grade level. The evidence at trial, however, supported the District Court's finding that the water proofing membrane was properly installed. The proper placement of the water proofing was confirmed by Petra's site visitation on February 8, 2011 as testified to by Gene Bennett. There is a small area on the west side that was not water proofed. This occurred at the location of a raised landscaping berm added by the City that was not included in the original plans and specifications. Regardless, the evidence established that there was no moisture leaking into the basement during the trial.

Steve Christiansen, an LCA architect, also testified the "waterproofing was in place, and I witnessed it and saw it prior to backfilling." Sealco, the responsible prime contractor, confirmed that it installed the required waterproofing. The City has never asked Sealco to redo the waterproofing.²⁹¹

Any deterioration of the electrical pad in the basement area was a warranty item. There was no evidence the City contacted the responsible prime contractor.²⁹²

The relevant punch lists did not identify any missing caulking or closure strips in the Mayor's Reception area. Missing materials in this area was a warranty item.²⁹³ There is no evidence in the record that the City called the prime contractor or made a warranty claim.²⁹⁴ The

²⁸⁸ Testimony of Todd Weltner, at 3514:21-3532:4.

²⁸⁹ Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5881:12-5883:3; Exhibit 825 (photographs only).

²⁹⁰ Testimony of Steve Christiansen, at 8315:11-8316:2.

²⁹¹ Testimony of Eric Jensen, at 4467:3-19.

²⁹² Testimony of Todd Weltner, at 3808:13-23.

²⁹³ Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5633:3-5633:13.

²⁹⁴ Testimony of Eric Jensen, at 4468:8-4469:4.

City did not notify Petra. 295

v. Access Floors.

Weltner's opinion that one-third of the access floor panels needed to be adjusted or replaced was incorrect and was not accepted by the District Court. During a site inspection, Gene Bennett personally inspected the access floor panels and determined that at most 2 percent need to be adjusted in the high traffic areas. Weltner admitted that he did not know the extent of the repairs that may be necessary. He also admitted he had never installed access floor panels like the ones in the City Hall. Page 297

IV. ADDITIONAL ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

A. Attorneys Fees on Appeal.

Petra is entitled to an award of attorneys fees and costs on Appeal as more fully discussed at Section Q herein.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Petra Established, Through Competent Substantial Evidence, Its Right To An Equitable Adjustment.

As set forth in the CMA, the City retained Petra to provide construction management services over a contemplated 80,000 sq. ft. building with an anticipated budget of \$12.2 million. At the time the CMA was signed, the actual design of and construction plans for the building, under the authority of LCA and the City, had not been completed. There is no doubt, however, that the City Hall ultimately designed and constructed, increased dramatically in size, scope, budget, and complexity over that which had been contemplated at the time the CMA was executed. The City Hall is a \$21.7 million, 104,000 sq. ft. LEED – certified 3-story building.²⁹⁸

²⁹⁵ Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5633:4-13.

²⁹⁶ Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5883:4-5587:14.

²⁹⁷ Testimony of Todd Weltner, at 3806:4-9.

²⁹⁸ It includes a basement, a large support free counsel chamber, exterior stone and brick cladding, IT server room upgrades, extensive cabinetry throughout, high tech mechanical and electrical systems, and finished offices in lieu of open office space. The steel structure is a four way moment frame system. The ultimate design, as built, includes an additional parking lot and elaborate plaza with a separate building, amphitheater, and four integrated water features.

In the course of construction, Petra managed approximately 150 change orders, hundreds of ASI's, and 150-200 RFI's. During August 2008, the City added the "east parking lot" to the Project due to the increased size of the building. All of these changes, in size, scope, and complexity, impacted Petra's management of the overall Project and justified Petra's request for an equitable adjustment to its fee.²⁹⁹

In awarding Petra an equitable adjustment of \$376,808.00 the District Court made the following specific Findings:

- 176. On August 20, 2007, Petra disclosed its intention to request an increase in its construction management fee in the amount of \$384,782.00 because of the change in the scale of the project.
- 177. On August 20, 2007, Petra had not yet provided additional services on the project.
- 178. The costs incurred on the project did not exceed the original \$12.2 million budget until after February 2008.
- 179. On or about September 5, 2007, and in response to Petra's suggestion, the City's agent Keith Watts agreed on behalf of the City that Petra should wait to submit the formal proposal for an equitable adjustment in Petra's fees until the final value of the project was determined.
- 180. On November 5, 2007, Petra sent a letter to the City to again remind the City that Petra would be seeking an additional fee.
- 181. Petra reasonably relied on Mr. Watt's September 2007 representation and did not formally submit the request for equitable adjustment until April 4, 2008, in the form of Change Order No. 2.
- 182. By April 4, 2008, Petra had provided extra services on the project.
- 183. The amount of Petra's Change Order No. 2 request was \$376,808.00; some \$8,000.00 less than the amount reflected in the August 20, 2007 budget.
- 184. Petra provided the City additional information in support of the request in October 2008.

The City added an under floor HVAC system, a system that was not noted in the City's request for qualifications when it originally sought Petra's services. Chuck Hurn, of Heery International, the commissioning agent considered the building a prototype building because there were so few like it in this area.

²⁹⁹ LCA, the architect separately retained by the City that had responsibility for the design of the building, that reviewed and approved all pay applications, and that acted as the City's direct agent regarding the construction of the building, also sought an equitable adjustment to its fee based on "a significant change to the Project has occurred in the size, complexity and budget since our contract was executed." Furthermore, Engineering Inc., also requested an additional fee from LCA on September 25, 2008. Mike Wisdom, on behalf of Engineering Inc., noted that he was initially hired to design a far less sophisticated system than what he was eventually directed to design.

185. The City did not approve the request.

Each one of these Findings is supported by the facts and testimony that were presented to the District Court and that are in the record before this Court.

First, The City contends that Petra did not inform the City that it intended to seek an equitable adjustment "until November 5, 2007", a contention that is nothing more than a challenge to Finding 176 by the District Court in the face of conflicting evidence. The facts establish that on August 20, 2007, Petra disclosed its intention, through a cost estimate, to request an increase in its Construction Management fee and that such intention was based upon the substantial change in the scale of the Project. This cost estimate had a line item that noted "CM contract adjustment for change in project scale." This exact same line item was ultimately included in Change Order Request No. 2. Moreover, in December 2007, and in each of the January – November 2008 monthly reports provided to the City by Petra, a line item was designated "CM fee, pending change order change in scope & complexity." The contract complexity is a line item was designated to the complexity.

The request seeking an equitable adjustment could not be completed until August of 2007 because final acceptance of the Phase 3 bids was not completed until the month prior, July 2007. It was not until final acceptance of Phase 3 bids that Petra was able to use actual contract amounts to determine the Project budgeting. Therefore, it was not until August 2007 that Petra could determine the Project's actual and ultimate scope. The CMA, as drafted by the City, contemplated an "equitable adjustment" to Petra's fee where there was a change to the size, scope, and complexity of the Project. Thus, the contract unambiguously recognized that a request for equitable adjustment could not occur until the final "size, scope and complexity" of the Project was determined.

In a September 5, 2007 email to the City's authorized representative, Keith Watts, Petra informed the City of its change order request due to "change in Project complexity from a \$12.2"

³⁰⁰ Exhibit 2148; Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5467:3-4.

³⁰¹ Exhibit 537; Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5471:15-18.

³⁰² Exhibits 549-560.

Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5481:4-16.

³⁰⁴ Testimony of Richard K. Bauer, at 9480:20-9582:25.

million 80,000 SF to \$19.9 million 100,000 SF Project...."³⁰⁵ Petra further stated that it would hold off formal submittal until the plaza is bid and the final base contract value is determined so that everything stays current and we do not create an image of "nickel and dime-ing" the Project.³⁰⁶ In response, Watts replied: "good idea on the 2nd one," referring to Change Order Request No. 2.³⁰⁷ In direct and reasonable reliance upon Watt's email, Petra delayed formal presentation of its request for equitable adjustment.³⁰⁸

Section 7 of the CMA, because at the time the request was made Petra had already provided "Additional Services" on the Project. The phrase "Additional Services" is not defined in the contract. The City consistently took the position that the CMA was unambiguous, 309 and the District Court concluded the same. The District Court had the authority, as a matter of law, to determine the plain meaning of the language that was contained in the contract, including the proper meaning that should be attributed to the phrase "Additional Services." In fact, the Court concluded, in Finding 177, that as of August 20, 2007, Petra had not yet provided Additional Services. That Finding is fully supported by the Court's additional Finding 178, in which the Court notes that the costs incurred on the Project did not exceed the original \$12.2 million budget until after February, 2008, almost six months after Petra made the initial request for additional fee. The fact that the CMA contains no specific definition of "Additional Services", and there is not a clear demarcation in the factual record between "original services" and "contemplated and new services", the Court's Findings and ultimate Conclusions are fully supportable.

Third, the City contends that Petra made a "representation" that its fee would never

.

³⁰⁵ Exhibit 535.

³⁰⁶ Exhibit 535.

³⁰⁷ Exhibit 535.

³⁰⁸ Testimony of Gene Bennett, at 5482.

³⁰⁹ Tr. at 3900-3915.

³¹⁰ Conclusion P.

Section 7 provides that "prior to providing any additional service, Construction Manager shall notify Owner of the proposed change in services...." The "change in services" were not "proposed by" Petra; they were mandated by the City due to the substantial changes in the project.

increase. See App.Br.14; see also 26, 27 (erroneously contending that Wes Bettis made a "representation to the City Council that Petra's fee and reimbursable expenses would not increase by even a dollar"). To support this argument, the City cites only a portion of Bettis' statement in a July 2007 City Council meeting. In his entire statement, Bettis advised the City Council of a starting place "to make a good working budget":

What we have attempted to do with this budget is to give us the highest budget that we could think of inclusive of all of the items, including the 1.5 million dollar budget for the plaza and community area, so that we have a starting place to address the value engineering issues and work with you to make a good working budget out of this project. 312

As the Project scope, size, complexity, and budget dramatically increased, it came as no surprise to anyone, including the City that the services Petra was being asked to perform had been impacted by the substantial changes in the Project mandated by the City. As the fact finder, the District Court was not persuaded that the representation meant that expenses would not increase.

Fourth, while the City expresses concern with representations it contends Petra made, representations not supported by the record, the representations made by the City must be emphasized. Those representations are contained in Recital B and Section 4.4 of the CMA which established the original plan upon which Petra made its original projections and that contemplated a \$12.2 million Project, for an 80,000 sq. ft. office building. This representation was relied upon by Petra when it submitted its original bid contained in the CMA. The substantial changes that effectively modified the building significantly undermined the City's representation. Common sense alone dictates that a construction project that increased in size by 30% and increased in cost by 78% would require substantial increases in supervisory staff, labor and expense. The City cannot be allowed to ignore the express representations set forth in the CMA that it drafted, while at the same time attempting to rely upon alleged representations that the District Court did not find supportable.

³¹² Exhibit 2025, p. 46.

Fifth, the City asserts that the District Court committed error in considering the concepts of waiver and estoppel in denying to the City the right to demand a particular type of notice and to object to equitable adjustment of Petra's fee. The City contends that neither waiver nor estoppel was pled nor were they tried by consent. The record does not support either contention.

- (1) This litigation began by the filing of a Complaint by the City seeking a Declaratory Judgment that Petra was not entitled to an equitable adjustment. In response, in its Answer, Petra specifically asserted estoppel as Affirmative Defense No. 31 and waiver as Affirmative Defense No. 32 thus placing at issue Petra's contention that the City had waived and/or was estopped to deny Petra's right to an equitable adjustment.³¹³
- (2) As noted in the extensive factual recitation contained in this Brief, the issue of waiver and estoppel were clearly litigated between these parties as is reflected by the correspondence between Bettis on behalf of Petra and Watts, the City's authorized representative.
- (3) The City cites Absher Const. Co. v. Kent School District, 890 P.2d 1071 (Wash. Ct. App. 1995) for the proposition that notice requirements are mandatory and cannot be waived nor estoppel applied. Unlike here, the contract at issue in Absher, on its face, precluded any waiver argument. But see 890 P.2d at 1075, n.8 (providing analysis of cases with similar facts to those presented here where courts held waiver applicable). Here, the City's authorized representative approved any alleged delay in the notice; the City directed the additional work; the City accepted the additional work and thus ratified its agent's action. Johnson, Inc. v. County of Spokane, 150 Wn. 2d 375, 391-92, 78 P.3d 161, 169 (Wash. 2003), also relied on by the City is equally distinguishable. In Johnson, the Court held that waiver occurs when there are "unequivocal acts of conduct evidencing an intent to waive." Unlike this case, where the City's authorized representative agreed Petra should delay its request for equitable adjustment, in Johnson the county "repeatedly notified" the contractor that it did not "intend a waiver of any claim or defense." The Washington Supreme Court also cited its decision in Bignold v. King County, 399

³¹³ R.0084.

P.2d 611 (Wash. 1965), noting that "it was the owner's knowledge of the changed conditions coupled with its subsequent direction to proceed with the extra work that evidenced its intent to waive enforcement of the written notice requirements." Judge Wilper's Conclusions are consistent with the *Bignold* rationale and analysis.³¹⁴

(4) The City's extensive reference to the Open Meetings law, suggesting that waiver or estoppel cannot apply to the City is not supportable. I.C. § 67-2341, excludes "ministerial or administrative actions" from the Open Meetings requirement. "Thus, the governing body is not required to vote on 'ministerial or administrative actions' that are necessary to carry out decisions previously reached in accordance with the open meeting laws." *City of McCall v. Buxton*, 146 Idaho 656, 666, 201 P.3d 629, 639 (2009). The CMA was approved by the City Council in an open meeting; its administration did not require such a process.³¹⁵

The evidence at trial fully supports the District Court's Findings and confirms that Petra did not perform any "Additional Services" for which it sought an increase in its fee until long after August 20, 2007, the date Petra delivered to the City the cost report listing the additional fee. In the emails exchanged between Wes Bettis, on behalf of Petra, and Keith Watts, the City's authorized representative, on September 5, 2007, the City did not express any objection to Petra's request for additional fees. In addition, in correspondence dated November 5, 2007,

-

³¹⁴ See also, D'Onofrio Bros. Const. Corp. v. Bd. of Ed. of City of New York, 421 N.Y.S.2d 377, 379 (N.Y. App. Div. 1979) (holding that the city was estopped from asserting the "failure to strictly comply with the terms of the contract" and opining that "[t]his court is also mindful that construction work must often proceed without undue delays and that strict compliance with the formal contract procedures may sometimes not be practical"). Howdy Jones Constr. Co., Inc. v. Parklaw Realty, Inc., 76 A.D. 2d 1018, 1018-1019, 429 N.Y.S.2d 768, 770, aff'd, 53 N.Y.2d 718 (N.Y. App. Div. 1981) (holding that trial court erred in disallowing charges "for extra work as a result of its finding that the invoices for said work were not signed by personnel of defendants authorized to approve extra work" where evidence showed that "work done by plaintiff that was not contemplated in the original contract and that defendants requested that such work be done"). Joseph F. Egan, Inc. v. City of New York, 17 N.Y.2d 90, 97, 268 N.Y.S. 2d 301, (1966) (finding city waived strict compliance with "protest" and "notice" provisions of construction contract where evidence showed that "original construction plans required major and constant revisions," city was behind schedule on processing change orders and it was necessary for contractor to conduct additional work where "such work was either disputed work from the beginning...or where the question was left open for future determination" so that "work progressed with minimum delay").

³ And further noted in *Buxton*, the actions of the agent of the City, Mr. Watts, can and were ratified by the City. In addition, I.C. § 67-2347 provides that any action seeking to declare conduct "null and void" as a violation of the Open Meetings law must be brought within "30 days of the time of the violation…" The issue raised by the City in this regard was not timely.

Bettis, on behalf of Petra, again notified the City that Petra would be submitting a change order request with an additional construction manager's fee. The pendency of the additional fee request was set forth in each monthly report submitted by Petra to the City. The formal Change Order Request No. 2 was dated April 8, 2008 and included Petra's request of an additional fee of \$386,392. In response to Change Order Request No. 2, Baird, the Meridian City Attorney, did not deny the request as untimely but requested more information by letter dated May 29, 2008. Gene Bennett and Tom Coughlin, on behalf of Petra, met with Baird and responded to his questions. Thereafter, on August 3, 2008, Petra delivered to the City the requested back-up for Change Order Request No. 2. This included the additional fee and reimbursable salaries.

The City did not respond to the change order request supported by the back-up requested by Baird until February 24, 2009 at which time it denied the request. These facts fully support the District Court's Conclusion that the City waived its contractual right to pre-approve the request for equitable adjustment, that the City is estopped from denying the fee request, and that the City unreasonably delayed making a decision on the request.³¹⁶

Section 7 of the CMA provides in part that Petra's services maybe changed "upon owners request" or "if construction manager's services are affected by" "...(b) significant change to the Project, including, but not limited to size, quality, complexity, owner schedule, budget or procurement method." There can be no factual doubt that changes to Petra's services were made as the result of "owners request" since it was the City as owner, in conjunction with LCA, that substantially modified the size, quality, complexity, and budget of the Project. There can further be no doubt that Petra's services were "affected" by those substantial changes.

Section 7 continues by noting that when a change in circumstances "materially affect(s) construction manager services", Petra would be entitled to an equitable adjustment of its fee and reimbursable expenses, "as mutually agreed by owner and construction manager." The City argues that it did not agree to an additional fee and therefore it is not obligated to pay an

³¹⁶ Conclusions I and L.

additional fee. Accepting the City's interpretation would render Section 7, a section drafted by the City, surplusage – the City could demand additional services, but never "agree" to any increased fee.

The contract utilizes the phrase "equitable adjustment" in authorizing the construction manager to seek an additional fee. Equitable principles therefore apply. The facts, as found by the District Court, support the award of the additional fee, in light of the substantial change to the size and complexity of the Project. Moreover, the City's retention of the benefit delivered by Petra in providing the additional services mandated by the change in size and complexity of the Project without also paying Petra for the compelled additional service was inequitable. The City's decision to essentially ignore that request for almost two years, but to demand the benefit of the additional services supports the Court's determination that the City is estopped to deny the request for equitable adjustment and has waived its right to contend otherwise.

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